Case No. S214855

**IN THE SUPREME COURT  
OF CALIFORNIA**

---

STATE DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE, et al,

Plaintiffs and Respondents,

vs.

COMMISSION ON STATE MANDATES,

Defendant and Respondent;

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES et al.,

Real Parties in Interest and Appellants.

---

SUPREME COURT  
**FILED**

MAY - 2 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

---

**OPENING BRIEF OF REAL PARTIES IN INTEREST AND APPELLANTS  
COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES AND CITIES OF BELLFLOWER, CARSON,  
COMMERCE, COVINA, DOWNEY AND SIGNAL HILL**

---

California Court of Appeal, Second District, Division One

Case No. B237153

Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. BS130730

Hon. Ann I. Jones, Superior Court Judge

---

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES FOR REVIEW**

1. Is a state mandate created within the meaning of article XIII B, section 6, of the California Constitution where the federal Clean Water Act gives municipalities discretion in designing their stormwater programs, and the state usurps that discretion by mandating the manner in which the municipalities must implement the program?

2. Did the Court of Appeal err in substituting its judgment for that of the Commission on State Mandates as to what constitutes a state mandate versus a federal mandate, where the federal requirement, here the “maximum extent practicable” standard under the Clean Water Act, is not defined by federal statute?

3. To what authority should the Commission on State Mandates and the courts look to define a federal as opposed to a state mandate within the meaning of article XIII B, section 6, where the federal requirement is stated in general terms and not defined by federal statute?

4. Did the State create a state mandate within the meaning of article XIII B, section 6, where it shifted certain inspection obligations from itself to local municipalities under a permit issued by a California Regional Water Quality Control Board?

## I. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This appeal places before the Court the fundamental question of how article XIII B, section 6, of the California Constitution applies to stormwater pollution control permits issued by state agencies. The Court of Appeal held that the general mandate jurisprudence interpreting section 6 is of “limited utility” because in issuing these permits state regional water quality control boards are, according to the court, acting as arms of the federal government (Slip op. at 34). This holding is fundamentally flawed; it ignores not only mandate jurisprudence but also the statutory scheme and the nature of these permits, which this Court itself has held can contain both federal and state requirements.

Article XIII B, section 6(a) of the California Constitution provides:

Whenever the Legislature or any state agency mandates a new program or higher level of service on any local government, the State shall provide a subvention of funds to reimburse that local government for the cost of the program or increased level of service, except that the Legislature may, but need not, provide a subvention of funds for the following mandates:

- (1) Legislative mandates requested by the local agency affected.
- (2) Legislation defining a new crime or changing an existing definition of a crime.
- (3) Legislative mandates enacted prior to January 1, 1975, or executive orders or regulations initially

implementing legislation enacted prior to January 1, 1975.

This section was adopted by voter initiative in 1979. As this Court has held, “[i]ts purpose is to preclude the state from shifting financial responsibility for carrying out governmental functions to local agencies, which are ‘ill-equipped’ to assume increased financial responsibilities because of the taxing and spending limits that articles XIII A and XIII B impose.” *County of San Diego v. State of California* (1997) 15 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 68, 81.

This case presents a clear illustration of why the voters adopted article XIII B, section 6. Here, a state agency, the Los Angeles Regional Water Quality Control Board (“Regional Board”), imposed discretionary programs on Appellants and Real Parties in Interest Cities of Bellflower, Carson, Commerce, Covina, Downey and Signal Hill and County of Los Angeles (the “Cities and County”), as well as on other cities in Los Angeles County, which had no say in the imposition or development of these programs, but nevertheless must use general funds to pay for them, funds that would otherwise be available for police, fire, libraries and other important municipal obligations.

The Commission on State Mandates (“Commission”) is the state agency charged with determining the existence of a state mandate and whether a local government is entitled to a subvention of funds for that mandate. The Commission found that the Regional Board’s imposition of trash receptacle and inspection obligations on the Cities and County were state mandates within the meaning of article XIII B, section 6.

In reaching this conclusion, the Commission looked to federal authority to define the scope of the federal mandate and applied the rulings

of the courts of appeal in *Long Beach Unified School District v. State of California* (1990) 225 Cal.App.3d 155 (“*Long Beach Unified*”) and *Hayes v. Commission on State Mandates* (1992) 11 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1564 (“*Hayes*”). In *Long Beach Unified*, the court held that a state mandate within the meaning of article XIII B, section 6, is created where a state agency usurps a local agency’s discretion as to the manner in which to comply with a federal mandate and imposes requirements that exceed federal law. 225 Cal.App.3d at 173. In *Hayes*, the court held that a state mandate is also created where a state agency freely chooses to impose upon a local agency the obligation to perform a federal mandate rather than perform that mandate itself. 11 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at 1593-94.

The Court of Appeal in this action did not consider the evidence before the Commission (Slip op. at 36) and declined to follow *Long Beach Unified* and *Hayes*, holding that “general-purpose mandate analysis is of limited utility in the area of clean water law . . . .” (*Id.* at 34.) This holding followed from the court’s belief that the Regional Board, in imposing the trash receptacle and inspection obligations through issuance of a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (“NPDES”) municipal stormwater permit (the “Permit”), was not acting in the role of the state but as an arm of the United States Environmental Protection Agency (“USEPA”). (*Id.*)

The Court of Appeal then substituted its judgment for that of the Commission and held that the Permit requirements were not state mandates as a matter of law (*Id.* at 36). In so doing, the court looked to another court of appeal decision, *Building Industry Ass’n. of San Diego County v. State Water Resources Control Board* (2004) 124 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 866, to define the scope of the federal mandate. That court, however, used a definition of the federal mandate that was not derived from federal law but was simply



created by a regional board in and for another permit that was at issue in that case. *Id.* at 876 n.7, 889. The Court of Appeal applied that other permit's definition to the mandate issues in this case without reference to any federal authority (Slip op. at 31, 34-35).

The Court of Appeal's analysis was erroneous:

(1) in issuing the Permit, the Regional Board was not acting as an arm of USEPA, but as a state agency implementing a state program in lieu of the federal program. 33 U.S.C. § 1342(b); 40 C.F.R. § 123.22; *Voices of the Wetlands v. State Water Resources Control Board* (2011) 52 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 499, 522;

(2) the Permit, like all NPDES permits, can contain both federal and state requirements, 33 U.S.C. § 1370; Water Code § 13377, and state requirements in a state-issued NPDES permit are subject to state law, *City of Burbank v. State Water Resources Control Board* (2005) 35 Cal. 4<sup>th</sup> 613, 627-28;

(3) the Commission has the exclusive authority to determine the existence of a state mandate, including whether a mandate is state or federal, Govt. Code §§ 17552, 17556(c); *Kinlaw v. State of California* (1991) 54 Cal.3d 326, 333;

(4) the Commission properly applied federal authority in finding that that the Permit's trash receptacle and inspection obligations exceeded federal requirements;

(5) the Commission properly applied *Long Beach Unified's* holding that a state mandate is created where a state agency usurps a local agency's discretion as to the manner of compliance with a federal mandate and imposes requirements that exceed federal law, 225 Cal.App.3d at 173;

(6) the Commission properly applied the holding in *Hayes* that a state mandate is created where a state agency freely chooses to impose upon a local agency the obligation to perform a federal mandate rather than perform that mandate itself, 11 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at 1593-94; and

(7) substantial evidence in the record supported the Commission's decision.

The Court of Appeal's decision should be reversed and the Commission's finding that the trash receptacle and inspection obligations are state mandates within the meaning of article XIII B, section 6, should be upheld.

## **II. STATEMENT OF APPEALABILITY**

This appeal is from a final judgment after trial on a petition for writ of mandate pursuant to Code Civ. Proc. § 1094.5. The final judgment disposed of all issues between the parties as to the petition.

## **III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **A. Course of Proceedings Below**

In 2003, the Cities and County filed test claims with the Commission, seeking a subvention of funds under article XIII B, section 6, for the trash receptacle and inspection obligations at issue in this appeal. The Commission originally rejected the claims, citing former Govt. Code § 17516(c), which exempted from the term "executive order" any orders issued by the State Water Resources Control Board ("State Board") or the nine regional water quality control boards ("regional boards") (Administrative Record ("AR") 1163-67, 1173-77, 1185-89).

The Los Angeles County superior court thereafter issued a writ of mandate in favor of the Cities and County, ordering the Commission to hear the test claims. On appeal, the Second District Court of Appeal

affirmed the superior court and struck down former Govt. Code § 17516(c) as unconstitutional. *County of Los Angeles v. Commission on State Mandates* (2007) 150 Cal. App.4<sup>th</sup> 898, 904, 920.

The Cities and County re-filed their test claims with the Commission (AR 1535-2452; 2479-2670). On July 31, 2009, the Commission found that the Permit's trash and inspection obligations constituted state mandates (AR 5603; *see also* 1 CT 97, 144).<sup>1</sup> The Commission further found that the state was constitutionally required to reimburse the Cities and County for the trash receptacle obligation but not the inspection obligations because the Cities and County had the ability to assess fees to pay for them (AR 5625; 1 CT 166.)

The Department of Finance, the State Board and the Regional Board (collectively, the "state agencies") petitioned the superior court for a writ of mandate to set aside the Commission's findings (1 CT 11). The state agencies argued that the Permit was issued pursuant to the federal Clean Water Act ("CWA"), 33 U.S.C. § 1251 et seq., and that the Commission had failed to consider whether the obligations were federally mandated pursuant to the "maximum extent practicable" standard set forth in the Act. The Cities and County filed a cross-petition seeking review of the Commission's decision that the Cities and County had the ability to assess fees to pay for the inspection obligations (2 CT 266).

The superior court agreed with the state agencies (4 CT 672-82) and ordered the Commission to set aside its decision (4 CT 726). The superior court did not reach the Cities' and County's cross-petition.<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> " \_\_ CT \_\_ " refers to the volume of the Clerk's Transcript followed by the transcript page.

<sup>2</sup> Counsel for the state agencies and the Cities and County appeared at trial;

On October 16, 2013, the Second District Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment of the superior court. *State Dept. of Finance v. Commission on State Mandates*, Case No. BS237153 (Oct. 16, 2013). On November 26, 2013, the Cities and County filed a Petition for Review in this Court, which granted the petition on January 29, 2014.

**B. Facts**

**1. The Permit**

The executive order at issue in this appeal is the Permit, adopted by the Regional Board on December 13, 2001 (1 CT 24). Four Permit requirements are at issue: Part 4.F.5.c.3, which requires the permittees, including the Cities and County, to place trash receptacles at public transit stops (1 CT 74); Part 4.C.2.a, which requires permittees to inspect commercial facilities such as restaurants and gas stations (1 CT 53-56); Part 4.C.2.b, which requires permittees to inspect certain industrial facilities (1 CT 56); and Part 4.E, which requires permittees to inspect certain construction sites as well as to have a program for permit approvals and training of staff with respect to these sites (1 CT 68-70).<sup>3</sup>

**2. The Statutory and Regulatory Framework for the Permit**

The Permit was issued as both a “waste discharge requirement” under the California Porter-Cologne Water Quality Act (“Porter-Cologne”), Water Code § 13000 *et seq.*, and as a NPDES permit under the CWA (1 CT 24). In 1969, three years before Congress enacted the CWA, the California Legislature enacted Porter-Cologne, which established the State Board and the nine regional control boards as the agencies responsible for the

---

the Commission made no appearance and rested on its decision (4 CT 702).

<sup>3</sup> The specifics of the inspection requirements are discussed more fully in Section IV.E, *infra*.

coordination and control of water quality. Water Code § 13001. Under Porter-Cologne, any person who discharges or proposes to discharge “waste” that could affect the quality of the “waters of the state” is required to obtain a waste discharge requirement permit. Water Code §§ 13260 and 13263.

In 1972 Congress adopted what later became known as the CWA. In so doing, Congress expressly preserved the right of any state to adopt or enforce standards or limitations respecting discharges of pollutants or the control or abatement of pollutants, so long as such provisions were not “less stringent” than federal law. 33 U.S.C. § 1370. *See also* 40 C.F.R. § 123.1(i) (“Nothing in this part precludes a State from: (1) Adopting or enforcing requirements which are more stringent or more extensive than those required under this part; (2) Operating a program with a greater scope of coverage than that required under this part.”).

Under the CWA, the discharge of a pollutant to a navigable water of the United States is prohibited unless the discharge is in accordance with one of the statutory provisions of the Act. 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a). One of those provisions is the NPDES permit program. 33 U.S.C. § 1342.

The CWA provides that states may administer their own NPDES permit programs in lieu of the federal program. 33 U.S.C. § 1342(b); 40 C.F.R. § 123.22. A state’s decision to do so is entirely voluntary, and if the state chooses not to administer this program, NPDES permits for that state are issued by USEPA. *See* 33 U.S.C. § 1342(a).

To effectuate California’s issuance of NPDES permits, the Legislature in 1972 added Chapter 5.5 to the Porter-Cologne Act, Water Code §§ 13370-13389. *Building Industry Ass’n, supra*, 124 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at 875. In so doing, the Legislature ensured that California law would mirror

the CWA's savings clause by authorizing the State Board and regional boards to not only issue permits that complied with the CWA's requirements, but also to include in them "any more stringent effluent standards or limitations necessary to implement water quality control plans, or the protection of beneficial uses, or to prevent nuisance." Water Code § 13377.<sup>4</sup>

In California, NPDES permits are issued by the State Board and the nine regional boards. Water Code § 13377. Such permits can include both federal requirements and any other state provisions that are more stringent than the federal requirements. *Id.* As this Court recognized in *City of Burbank*, these additional requirements are state-imposed and subject to the requirements of state law. 35 Cal. 4<sup>th</sup> at 627-28.

The CWA provides that NPDES permits covering operators of municipal separate storm sewer systems, including the Permit, are required to contain, *inter alia*, "controls to reduce the discharge of pollutants to the maximum extent practicable." 33 U.S.C. § 1342(p)(3)(B)(iii) (the "maximum extent practicable" or "MEP" standard). The CWA, however, does not define "maximum extent practicable."

### **3. Role of the Commission**

In November 1979, the voters adopted Proposition 4, which added article XIII B to the state constitution. Section 6 of article XIII B requires that the state provide a subvention of funds for any "new program or higher level of service" imposed by the state on any local government. Calif. Const. article XIII B, section 6(a). As this Court held in *County of San Diego, supra*, 15 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> at 81, the purpose of section 6 "is to preclude the

---

<sup>4</sup> As used in Water Code § 13377, the term "waste discharge requirements" refers to NPDES permits. Water Code § 13374.

state from shifting financial responsibility for carrying out governmental functions to local agencies, which are 'ill equipped' to assume increased financial responsibilities because of the taxing and spending limitations that articles XIII A and XIII B impose.”

In 1984, the Legislature enacted Government Code §17500 et seq. to implement section 6 “because the absence of a uniform procedure had resulted in inconsistent rulings on the existence of state mandates, unnecessary litigation, reimbursement delays, and, apparently, resultant uncertainties in accommodating reimbursement requirements in the budgetary process.” *Kinlaw, supra*, 54 Cal.3d at 331.

In this legislation, the Legislature created the Commission as a quasi-judicial body to adjudicate disputes over the existence of and reimbursement for state-mandated programs. Govt. Code §§17500, 17525, 17551, 17557. The Legislature established a test claim procedure to resolve disputes affecting multiple agencies, established the method of payment of claims, and created reporting procedures which enable the Legislature to budget adequate funds. Govt. Code §§ 17553, 17554, 17558, 17561, 17562, 17600, 17612(a). *See generally, Kinlaw*, 54 Cal.3d at 331-32.

The Commission has sole authority to adjudicate all disputes over the existence and reimbursement of state-mandated programs within the meaning of article XIII B, section 6. Govt. Code § 17552; *Kinlaw*, 54 Cal.3d at 333. Local agencies seeking a subvention of state funds must file a test claim with the Commission. Govt. Code § 17551. The Commission then acts on that test claim at a public hearing at which evidence may be presented by the claimant, the Department of Finance, any other state

agency affected by the claim, and any other interested person. Govt. Code § 17553.

#### **4. The Commission's Action**

Following the decision in *County of Los Angeles v. Commission*, *supra*, the Cities and County re-filed their test claims with the Commission. In addition to legal arguments, the Cities and County submitted the following evidence:

(a) a review of several municipal separate storm sewer system ("MS4") permits issued by USEPA that showed that many permits did not include the trash receptacle or inspection obligations at issue here (AR 3891-98);

(b) evidence that the trash receptacle and inspection obligations had not been included in prior MS4 permits issued by the Regional Board and approved by USEPA (AR 1540-41, 1552, 1782, 3865);

(c) letters from the USEPA Administrator and the head of the water program for Region IX of USEPA, confirming that the state of California, and not cities, had the obligation to inspect facilities for compliance with state-issued permits (AR 3878-881); and

(d) evidence that the Regional Board had negotiated with the County to pay the County to perform inspections of industrial facilities on the board's behalf before the Regional Board decided to impose that requirement on the Cities and County in the Permit without payment (AR 3885-86).

The Commission issued its decision on July 31, 2009, finding that all of the principal obligations in the test claims were state, not federal,



mandates.<sup>5</sup> In reaching this conclusion, the Commission applied the following five principles:

(a) Under the CWA, each state is free to enforce its own water quality laws so long as its requirements are not “less stringent” than those set out in the CWA (1 CT 119).

(b) This Court in *City of Burbank, supra*, 35 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> at 628, acknowledged that a NPDES permit may contain both terms that are federally mandated and terms that exceed federal law (*Id.*).

(c) An executive order can constitute a reimbursable state mandate where the order imposes requirements that go beyond federal requirements, citing *Long Beach Unified*, 225 Cal.App.3<sup>rd</sup> at 173 (1 CT 118-19).

(d) Where a federal law imposes a mandate on the state, and the state has a choice between incurring the federal obligation itself or imposing that obligation on a local agency, imposition of the obligation on the local agency creates a reimbursable state mandate. *Hayes, supra*, 11 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at 1593-94 (1 CT 118).

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