### In the Supreme Court of the State of California

STATE DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE et al..

Plaintiffs and Respondents,

v.

COMMISSION ON STATE MANDATES,

Defendant and Respondent,

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES et al.,

Real Parties in Interest and Appellants.



Case No. S214855

SUPREME COURT
FILED

AUG 2 2 2014

Frank A. MicGuire Clerk

Deputy

Second Appellate District, Division One, Case No. B237153 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BS130730 Hon. Ann I. Jones, Judge

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

KAMALA D. HARRIS
Attorney General of California
DOUGLAS J. WOODS
Senior Assistant Attorney General
TAMAR PACHTER
Supervising Deputy Attorney General
NELSON R. RICHARDS

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

### I. THE FOUR CHALLENGED PERMIT REQUIREMENTS ARE FEDERAL MANDATES.

The courts below correctly applied federal and state law in holding that the permit and all its terms are not state mandates because they do not exceed the federal maximum-extent-practicable standard. This Court should affirm.

### A. A Permit That Does Not Exceed the Federal Maximum-Extent-Practicable Standard Does Not Impose a State Mandate.

The permit and all its terms are federal mandates because they do not exceed the federal maximum-extent-practicable standard for issuance of an MS4 permit. California mandates law "preclud[es] a shift of financial responsibility for carrying out governmental functions from the state to local agencies . . . ." (See *County of Los Angeles v. California* (1987) 43 Cal.3d 46, 61, discussing Cal. Const., art. XIII B, § 6.) It does not require the State to subsidize local government compliance with federal mandates. (See, e.g., Gov. Code, § 17556, subd. (c) [providing that executive orders implementing federal requirements are state mandates only if they "exceed the mandate in [the] federal law or regulation"]; *County of Los Angeles v. Commission on State Mandates* (*Davis*) (1995) 32 Cal.App.4th 805, 816 (*Davis*) ["The courts have concluded that no state mandate exists if the requirements or provisions of a state statute are, nevertheless, required by federal law"].)

In San Diego Unified, this Court held that procedures used in discretionary expulsion proceedings "should be considered to have been adopted to implement a federal due process mandate" and they therefore constituted nonreimbursable federal mandates. (See San Diego Unified, supra, 33 Cal.4th at p. 888.) This Court's analysis followed the Court of

Appeal's reasoning in *Davis*, *supra*, 32 Cal.App.4th 805. (*San Diego Unified*, *supra*, 33 Cal.4th at pp. 888-890.) In *Davis*, the court addressed a Penal Code statute requiring counties to provide indigent criminal defendants with investigators and experts in addition to counsel, as required by the federal Constitution. (See *Davis*, *supra*, 32 Cal.App.4th at pp. 814-815.) The court held that the Penal Code did not create a state mandate because it merely implemented a federal constitutional requirement. (*Id.* at p. 816.)

Together, San Diego Unified and Davis recognize that the State may enforce the requirements of federal law without creating a reimbursable state mandate. In those cases, the courts examined state laws enacted to implement and make specific otherwise broad federal constitutional protections. The permit challenged here provides an even stronger case for a federal mandate, because the State is directly enforcing a federal law, in lieu of the EPA and subject to the same federal standards that govern the EPA when it drafts NPDES permits. It is the Clean Water Act and its implementing regulations that require the State to issue permits for MS4 discharges that, at a minimum, include controls sufficient to reduce pollutant discharge to the maximum extent practicable. (See 33 U.S.C. § 1342(b), (p)(3)(B); 40 C.F.R. § 122.26.)

That Congress has delegated authority to the permitting agencies—either the EPA or state agencies—to determine the specific controls or set of controls necessary to reduce pollutant discharges to the maximum extent practicable in the unique circumstances of each MS4 (see *Natural Resources Defense Council*, *supra*, 966 F.2d at p. 1296; *Building Industry*, *supra*, 124 Cal.App.4th at p. 874), does not change the analysis. A permit that requires controls to reduce pollutant discharges to the maximum extent practicable is a bedrock requirement of federal law, and federal law also requires the permitting agency to determine the controls that are necessary

to achieve that standard. Thus, where, as here, the permit does not exceed the maximum-extent-practicable standard, it imposes only a federal mandate that does not require a subvention of funds.

# B. None of the Four Challenged Requirements Causes the Permit to Exceed the Maximum-Extent-Practicable Standard.

Congress intended the maximum-extent-practicable standard to be flexible: it did not prescribe a list of approved controls, and contemplated that permits would include site-specific terms to address the unique circumstances and threats posed by each MS4. (See 55 Fed.Reg. at pp. 48037-48038; City of Irving, supra, 10 E.A.D. 111 [2001 WL 988723 at p. \*6].) That is, federal law contemplates that permits will include terms not expressly called for by the Clean Water Act or its implementing regulations. An agency that drafts a permit—either the EPA or a state issuer—must use its expertise to determine the "controls [that will] reduce the discharge of pollutants to the maximum extent practicable . . . . " (See 33 U.S.C. § 1342(p)(3)(B)(iii).) The permit here was thus not simply authorized or permitted by federal law, it was required by the Clean Water Act. Under the Clean Water Act, the permit, not the individual requirements must, at a minimum, include "controls to reduce the discharge of pollutants to the maximum extent practicable . . . . " (33 U.S.C. § 1342(p)(3)(B).) The permittees must have an NPDES permit to operate their MS4, and that permit must implement the standards required by the Clean Water Act. Each of the challenged terms is an element of the stormwater pollution control program that carries out that federal standard. Considered individually or in combination with all the terms of the permit, those terms do not exceed, nor do they cause the permit to exceed, the requirements of federal law.

# 1. The Trash Receptacle Requirement Does Not Exceed the Maximum-Extent-Practicable Standard.

Requiring the County to place trash receptacles at transit stops implements the maximum-extent-practicable standard. The EPA's regulations identify "practices for operating and maintaining public streets, roads and highways and procedures for reducing the impact on receiving waters of discharges from municipal storm systems" as one method for reducing the discharge of pollutants to the maximum extent practicable. (40 C.F.R. § 122.26(d)(2)(iv)(A)(3).) Requiring permittees to place trash receptacles at transit stops falls within that requirement, as both the trial court and Court of Appeal recognized. (See 1 CT 74.) The trial court said that putting trash receptacles at transit stops was an "obvious remedy" for stormwater pollution, noting that, "if litter and debris cannot be properly disposed of by persons waiting at transit stops, the inevitable downstream result will be the introduction of pollutants into the streets and, thereafter, into the storm drains—leading inevitably to the discharge of pollutants into nearby waterways." (4 CT 680.)

Likewise, the Court of Appeal explained that "[t]rash receptacles are a simple method of keeping stormwater clean because they prevent trash and other debris from entering storm drains and entering the ocean and local rivers and drainage canals." (Slip. Op. 35.) The EPA itself, in a 2008 letter, opined that the permit's trash-receptacle requirement fell within the maximum-extent-practicable standard. (See 3 AR 3798-3799.) And in its permit application, the County identified litter and debris on the streets as a source of pollution, and it suggested trash collection along or in improved open channels. (3 AR 3678.)

### 2. The Inspection Requirements Do Not Exceed the Maximum-Extent-Practicable Standard.

Similarly, requiring inspections of certain commercial and industrial facilities and construction sites implements the maximum-extent-practicable standard. Inspections are necessary to effectively control the discharge of pollutants in compliance with the Clean Water Act. "Federal law, either expressly or by implication, requires NPDES permittees to perform inspections for illicit discharge prevention and detection; landfills and other waste facilities; industrial facilities; construction sites; certifications of no discharge; non-storm water discharges; permit compliance; and local ordinance compliance." (*Rancho Cucamonga*, *supra*, 135 Cal.App.4th at p. 1390.)

Commercial-Facility Inspections. The EPA's regulations call for "inspections . . . to prevent illicit discharges to the municipal storm sewer system . . . ." (40 C.F.R. § 122.26(d)(2)(iv)(B)(1).) The permit requires inspection of certain commercial facilities, like restaurants and car-service facilities, to make sure that those businesses are not discharging food waste and motor oil, for example, into storm drains. (See 1 CT 54-55.) Both the trial court and Court of Appeal recognized that these inspections fell within the federal standard. (See 4 CT 681; Slip Op. 35.) The EPA's 2008 letter says these inspections were "well within the scope" of the MS4 permitting regulation. (3 AR 3798.) And the County's permit application recommended "visits" of automotive-service and food-service facilities similar to the inspections the permit ultimately required. (3 AR 3671.)

Industrial-Facility Inspections. The EPA's regulations call for permits to "[i]dentify priorities and procedures for inspections" of industrial facilities. (40 C.F.R. § 122.26(d)(2)(iv)(C)(1).) The permit implements that requirement by, for example, having the permittees inspect certain industrial facilities to ensure the operators follow best management

practices for stormwater discharges and comply with additional controls when the facility is in an environmentally sensitive area. (See 1 CT 56-67.) The trial and appellate court recognized that these provisions fell within the federal requirement. (See 4 CT 681; Slip Op. 35.) And, as with the commercial inspections, the EPA's 2008 letter says the industrial inspections are well within the MS4 requirements. (See 3 AR 3798.) Even the County's permit application recommended an "industrial[] educational site visit program . . . ." (3 AR 3670-3671.)

Construction-Site Inspections. The EPA's regulations call for permits to describe "procedures for identifying priorities for inspecting" construction sites. (40 C.F.R. § 122.26(d)(2)(iv)(D)(3).) The permit implements that requirement by requiring inspections to ensure that, among other things, sediment and construction-related materials, wastes, spills, or residues do not end up in the MS4. (See 4 CT 67-70.) As with the other inspection requirements, the trial and appellate courts recognized that the permit's provisions fell within the federal standard. (See 4 CT 681; Slip Op. 35.) Though the EPA's 2008 letter does not discuss the construction inspection requirement, an EPA guidance manual shows that the EPA believes the MS4 permits should impose construction-inspection provisions. (See 3 AR 3394.) And the County's own permit application recommended detailed construction-site requirements that included inspections. (3 AR 3672-3775.)

### C. The Regional Board's Determination of What Federal Law Requires Is Entitled to Deference.

Unlike the Regional Board, the Commission was ill-equipped to determine in the first instance whether the permit exceeded the federal standard for MS4 permits. It does not have the expertise of the Regional Board, nor did it have the record that was before the Regional Board. Accordingly, it should have deferred to the Regional Board's determination

of what the Clean Water Act and EPA regulations require in a permit to operate the permittees' MS4. This is especially important in the context of MS4 permits, which include interlocking components that collectively must reduce pollutants to the maximum extent practicable.

Congress and the EPA conferred discretion on the Water Boards to use their expertise to decide the combination of terms necessary for any given MS4 to comply with the Clean Water Act. These state agencies are authorized by federal and state law to interpret the requirements of the Clean Water Act and related EPA regulations, and to issue the permit. (See 33 U.S.C § 1342(b), (p); Wat. Code, § 13377; Cal. Code Regs., tit. 23, § 2235.2.)

Here, the Regional Board drafted the permit after overseeing a 10-month administrative process that generated an 80,000-page administrative record and included approximately 50 meetings between the Regional Board staff and interested parties. (See 3 CT 415.) In the permit, the Regional Board specifically determined that the permit and its terms implemented a stormwater pollution control program to reduce the discharge of pollutants in stormwater to the maximum extent practicable. (See 1 CT 48.) As the expert in the Clean Water Act, the evolving science and technology of pollution control, and the unique factual circumstances surrounding the County's MS4, the Regional Board should receive deference in determining what federal law requires.

1. Deference to the Regional Board's Determination of What Federal Law Requires Is Appropriate in the MS4 Permitting Context.

When an agency—either the EPA or a designated state agency such as the Regional Board—drafts a permit and develops site-specific requirements, it brings to bear its scientific, technical, and legal knowledge, as well as its experience with the success and failure of controls required in

a particular MS4, in determining the type and combination of "controls [that will] reduce the discharge of pollutants to the maximum extent practicable," considering the unique circumstances and pollution threats posed by a particular applicant's MS4. (See 33 U.S.C. § 1342(p)(3)(B)(iii).)

The Court of Appeal properly recognized the specialized nature of the Regional Board's permitting process, and cited both the presumption of regularity in official acts and the doctrine of deference to agency expertise. (See Slip Op. 35, citing Evid. Code, § 664, Fukuda v. City of Angels (1999) 20 Cal.4th 805, 812 (Fukuda).) It quoted this Court's decision in Fukuda for the proposition that "considerable weight should be given to the findings of experienced administrative bodies made after a full and formal hearing, especially in cases involving technical and scientific evidence." (Slip Op. 25, quoting Fukuda, supra, 20 Cal.4th at p. 812.) Fukuda held that deference applies even where the courts exercise their independent judgment when reviewing the evidence. (Fukuda, supra, 20 Cal.4th at pp. 817-818; see also Wat. Code, § 13330, subd. (e).) Deference to an agency is "fundamentally situational." (Yamaha Corporation of America v. State Board of Equalization (1998) 19 Cal.4th 1, 12 [italics omitted].) An agency's interpretation of a statute should receive deference where it has a comparative interpretive advantage stemming from its application of technical or scientific expertise to entwined issues of fact, policy, and discretion. (Ibid.; accord American Coatings Association, Inc. v. South Coast Air Quality District (2012) 54 Cal.4th 446, 475 [deferring, in a rulemaking challenge, to air district's expertise in categorizing pollutant sources under a statute requiring "best available retrofit technology" because the trade association making the challenge could neither point to an "objectively correct categorization" of pollutant sources nor show that the district acted arbitrarily in creating its categories].) The Regional Board's

expertise gives it a tremendous advantage in interpreting the requirements of federal law for each individual MS4.

2. The Commission's Failure to Defer to the Regional Board's Decision Invited Legal Error and Inconsistent Results.

The Commission should have deferred to the Regional Board's determination of the permit terms required by federal law. Generally speaking, "[a] decision by an agency primarily qualified to determine a question is binding on another agency . . . ." (2 Pierce, Administrative Law Treatise (5th ed. 2010) § 13.4, p. 1145.) Judge Friendly, writing for the Second Circuit, put a finer point on this principle, noting that where one agency has the expertise to pass on a matter and does so, "it would be quite unseemly for [another agency] to conclude that its sister agency had been wrong on a fully litigated issue the decision of which Congress had confided to it . . . ." (See *Safir v. Gibson* (2d Cir. 1970) 432 F.2d 137, 143.)

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